PL13-13Y

CITY OF DULUTH
HERITAGE PRESERVATION COMMISSION
LANDMARK DESIGNATION

L Name of Property
A. Historic: St. Peter’s Italian Church
B. Common: St Peter’s Church

II. Location
A. Address: 810 West Third Street
B. Legal Description: Outlot 2 Ex Sly 140 feet and Ex Ely 100 feet of Nly
269 feet and all outlot 3

1. Classification
A. Type of Property: Church
B. Current Use: Vacant
C. Current Zoning: R- 2 Urban Residential

IV. A. Current Owner: St. Peter’s Church
B. Address: c/o St. Mary Star of the Sea
325 Third Street, Duluth MN 55805

V. Property Status
A. Occupied/Vacant: Vacant
B. Assessed Value: Land $75,100
Bldg $265,100
Total $340,200
C. Condition: Fair

VI.  Historical Background
A. Year Built: 1925-1927
Architect: Peter Summers
Original Site: yes
Altered/Unaltered: Partially altered
Architectural Style: Romanesque/Gothic Revival
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VII.  Description of Property
St. Peter’s Church is located on the southeast corner of Eighth Avenue West
and Third Street in a residential neighborhood. The lot is 160 feet wide by
269 feet in depth, and the building measures 56 feet wide and 105 feet deep.
The two story stone church is rectangular with two - three story square towers
on the front fagade corners and has a steeply pitched gable roof. It features
concrete trim which has been painted white.
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IX.

The square cut stones are laid in irregular courses and in shades of black,
brown and tan, commonly called “Duluth bluestone”. The 18 inch thick
stones give the massive feel of the Romanesque Revival style, but the Gothic
pointed windows, some with panel tracery, and stone buttresses give a Gothic
Revival look. The buttresses are on the corners of the towers and between
windows on the rear, east and west sides. Diagonal buttresses are located on
the rear corners. Buttresses are decorated with concrete water tables, and a
concrete string course runs above the first floor side windows and across the
rear of the building.

All windows have painted concrete surrounds. The large Gothic windows on
the front and rear facades are stained glass as are some of the smaller
rectangular windows. Windows depict scenes from the life of Jesus Christ,
but at present all church windows are boarded up. Tower windows on the
third story are louvered but originally were open. The 1885 bell from St .Jean
Baptiste Church hangs in the east tower belfry. The double front entrance
doors are covered with a steel door, a small door leads into the basement from
the rear, and an original door is located on the first story of the east tower. All
door surrounds are concrete.

The church has been modified with a wood ramp and iron railings across the
west front and with a five by ten foot cinder block addition which covers an
original door on the east side.

Present Condition
Stone walls appear stable. Paint on the concrete trim is peeling in some
places. Windows are boarded up and the roof reportedly is leaking.

Statement of Significance

St. Peter’s Church represents the cultural heritage of the Italian immigrants
who settled in Duluth beginning in the 1880s in an area between 10M and 14™
Avenue West and from Michigan to Fourth Streets, known as “Little Italy”.
These Italian Americans desired a Catholic church where Italian was spoken,
and in 1905 “St. Peter’s Italian Church, Duluth”, was incorporated as a
“personal” church which could be established for reasons of language or
nationality as opposed to a “territorial” church which serves a definite
neighborhood. The 1885 St Jean Baptiste Church on West 11™ Avenue and
Superior Street was purchased and served the Italian community until the
early 1920s when it appeared the City of Duluth would extend West Superior
Street through the church property.

In 1924 the St. Peter’s congregation purchased land on Third Street and West
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Eighth Avenue. The following year they began excavation. Many of the
parish Italians were skilled stone masons and bricklayers who volunteered to
build the church according to plans by architect Peter Summers who was the
son of Duluth’s first Italian immigrant. The Italians harvested the stone for
the walls and towers from a hillside near Twin Ponds and worked for two
years until completion in 1927 and the dedication and first mass on Sunday,
December 18, 1927.

In addition to St. Peter’s, the skilled Italian artsans were responsible for many
of Duluth’s fine stone structures: Enger Tower, bridges of Seven Bridges
Road, Glen Avon Church, Tower Hall on St Scholastica’s campus and
bluestone foundations and retaining walls throughout the city.

Findings on Designation Criteria: The following criteria are established by
ordinance as the basis for designation of a site/district, with the requirement
that the property proposed for designation meet at least one of the criteria.

A. “It has character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or
cultural characteristics of the City of Duluth, State of Minnesota, or
United States.”

Finding: Immigrant Italian stone masons and brick layers who built many of
Duluth’s stone buildings, bridges, walls and foundations, built their own
Church, worshipped there and retained their cultural characteristics in
organizations such as the Italian-American club.

B. “Its location was the site of a significant historical event.”
Finding: This criterion is not met by the subject property.

C. “It is identified with a person or persons who significantly contributed to
the cultural development of the City of Duluth, State of Minnesota or
United States.”

Finding: St. Peter’s was the center of spiritual and social life of Duluth’s
Italian immigrants. They supplied the labor to build the church. The
Sons of Italy Brass Band played at funerals from the church. Italian

women created lace altar cloths; they cleaned the church and prepared
feasts for celebrations of saints’ days. The Italian-American Club was
organized in the early 1930s for fellowship and to promote Italian
heritage. The group met at St. Peter’s and raised funds for maintenance
of the church. Many of Duluth’s grocery, fruit and confectionery stores
were run by Italians.



XI.

XII.

D. “It embodies a distinguishing characteristic of an architectural type.”

Finding: This is the only Duluth example of a Romanesque/Gothic Revival
Church built from native stone.

E. “Itis identified as the work an an architect or master builder whose
individual work has influenced the development of the City of Duluth or
the State of Minnesota.

Finding: This criterion is not met by the subject property.

F. “It embodies elements of architectural design, detail, materials and
craftsmanship which represent significant architectural innovation.”

Finding: This criterion is not met by the subject property.

G. “Its unique location or singular physical characteristics represent an
established and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community or
the City as a whole.”

Finding: St. Peter’s is an established visual feature of the neighborhood
with its striking stone fagade.

Conclusions:

A. Points in favor: The building meets four out of seven criteria for
designation whereas only one must be met to be eligible.

B. Points in opposition: None
Attachments
A. Location Map

B. Photos
C. Bibliography
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